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FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW


John T. Ryan filed a complaint on February 19, 1999, challenging the State Board of Chiropractic Examiners’ decision denying his application for licensure as a chiropractor.  The Board denied the application because Ryan had been convicted of a crime.  Ryan argues that he has completed chiropractic school and has been rehabilitated.


This Commission convened a hearing on the complaint on July 30, 1999.  Ryan represented himself.  Gregory C. Mitchell and Rachel M. Craig, with Brydon, Swearengen & England, represented the Board.  


The parties elected to file written arguments.  The matter became ready for our decision on November 18, 1999, when Ryan filed the last written argument by registered mail.  

Findings of Fact

1. In November 1992, Ryan began dating a woman who used methamphetamine.  When she broke up with him, he decided to try to win her back by manufacturing methamphetamine for her.  Ryan researched how to make methamphetamine and met Dale DeWitt, who had a methamphetamine lab in his home.  

2. In April 1993, Ryan ordered certain chemicals necessary to make methamphetamine and paid for them with money he received from Richard Lang, who was his ex-girlfriend’s drug supplier.  Ryan and DeWitt picked up the materials, and DeWitt took them home.  

3. When Ryan visited Lang’s home in an attempt to get him to meet with DeWitt, the police raided Lang’s house.  Ryan informed the police of his own activities.  Ryan cooperated with the authorities in the prosecutions of Lang and DeWitt.    

4. Ryan pled guilty to the use of a communication facility (telephone) in the manufacture of methamphetamine, in violation of 21 U.S.C. section 843(b), in the United States District Court, Western District of Missouri.  On January 18, 1995, the court sentenced Ryan to 15 months in prison.    

5. Ryan served six months in prison and was released on probation.  He went to a halfway house for six to eight months, and then served one month of home confinement.   

6. While in prison, Ryan maintained work duty and enrolled in the required drug abuse program.  

7. Subsequent to his arrest, Ryan renewed a friendship with a woman who is now his wife.  They were married in March 1994.  The Ryans have a son who was two years old at the time of the hearing.  Ryan is devoted to his family and is committed to providing for them.

8. Ryan successfully completed counseling as part of his probation.  Ryan participated in weekly counseling sessions and received counseling for stress management, coping skills, communication skills, and healthy ways of expressing anger.  Ryan developed insight about his past substance abuse.  Ryan’s wife attended some sessions with him, and the two worked on relationship issues.

9. During supervised release, Ryan had 41 urine tests.  None showed any illegal drug use.  

10. Ryan completed probation on February 28, 1997.  

11. Ryan has dissociated himself from his old friends who were involved with drugs.  

12. Upon his release from prison, Ryan reapplied to Cleveland Chiropractic College, which conducted a hearing and allowed him to return to school.  Ryan worked in addition to attending school.  The College requires 600 hours of clinical practice, but Ryan completed 1,180 hours.  Ryan completed his chiropractic training in August 1997.  Due to his work in the clinic, the faculty awarded Ryan an Outstanding Service Award at graduation.  

13. Since his release from prison, Ryan has been gainfully employed.  

14. Ryan is a person who cares about others and goes out of his way to help those in need.  For example, Ryan uses his mechanical skills to repair people’s cars free of charge.  Ryan has a reputation for being committed to helping others.  

15. Ryan has had no further criminal record.  Ryan has not abused drugs since June 1993.  Ryan admits that when he was in the halfway house, there was one incident of alcohol use, in violation of its rules.  However, his probation officer states that there were no known violations of his probation during the term of supervised release.

16. Ryan has expressed remorse about his 1993 conduct and has cautiously avoided people who are involved with illegal drugs.    

17. Ryan applied to the Board for licensure as a chiropractor.  On the application, Ryan fully disclosed the conviction and the surrounding circumstances.  On October 26, 1998, the Board denied his application, stating:  


At its meeting on October 22, 1998, the Missouri State Board of Chiropractic Examiners considered your application for licensure as a chiropractic physician.  I regret to inform you that the Board has denied your application for licensure pursuant to Section 331.060.1 and .2(2), RSMo. 


Based on the information obtained a [sic] result of your criminal history background check from the FBI, you were convicted on January 13, 1995, in the United States District Court Western District of Missouri for Use of Communication Facility (Telephone) in the Manufacture of Methamphetamine.  Under Section 331.060.1(2), RSMo,
  the Board may refuse to issue any certificate of registration or authority, permit or license required pursuant to this chapter if the person has been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution under the laws of any state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated under this chapter, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed.  The January 1995 conviction involves a crime of moral turpitude and is the basis for the Board’s denial of your application for a chiropractic license. . . . The Board reserves the right to raise any issues which affect the question of whether or not you are entitled to licensure at any hearing held before the Administrative Hearing Commission.    


18.
Ryan requested that the Board reconsider its decision.  Ryan appeared before the Board and answered its inquiries.  The Board requested Ryan’s counseling records and reviewed 

them.  On January 21, 1999, the Board notified Ryan that it had decided not to reverse its decision.  

Conclusions of Law


This Commission has jurisdiction over Ryan’s complaint.  Section 621.045, RSMo Supp. 1998.
  Ryan has the burden of proving that he is entitled to licensure.  Section 621.120.    

I.  Statutory Bases for Denial 


Section 331.060 provides in part:  


1.  The board may refuse to issue any certificate of registration or authority, permit or license required pursuant to this chapter for one or any combination of causes stated in subsection 2 of this section.  The board shall notify the applicant in writing of the reasons for the refusal and shall advise the applicant of his right to file a complaint with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621, RSMo.  


2.  The board may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing commission as provided by chapter 621, RSMo, against any holder of any certificate of registration or authority, permit or license required by this chapter or any person who has failed to renew or has surrendered his certificate of registration or authority, permit or license for any one or any combination of the following causes:  

*   *   *


(2) The person has been finally adjudicated and found guilty, or entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, under the laws of any state or of the United States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any profession licensed or regulated under this chapter, for any offense an essential element of which is fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not sentence is imposed;

*   *   *


(15) Violation of the drug laws or rules and regulations of this state, any other state or the federal government[.]  


Good moral character is a requirement for licensure as a chiropractor.  Section 331.030.2, RSMo Supp. 1998.  The Board does not dispute that Ryan meets the age and education requirements for licensure.  Section 331.030.2, RSMo Supp. 1998.  


In a licensing application case before this Commission, due process requires that the licensing board’s answer to the complaint provide notice of the cause for denial.  See Ballew v. Ainsworth, 670 S.W.2d 94, 103 (Mo. App., E.D. 1984); Regulation 1 CSR 15-2.380(3). The Board’s answer cites section 331.060.2(2) and (15). The answer also incorporates by reference the Board’s denial letters.


The Board’s October 26, 1998, denial letter cites section 331.060.2(2).  Although the letter specifically states that Ryan committed a crime of moral turpitude, it cites the entire paragraph (2), and Ryan’s understanding was that his moral character is the issue in this proceeding.  (Tr. at 12.)
  Therefore, we conclude that the issue under section 331.060.2(2) is whether Ryan committed a crime (1) of moral turpitude and (2) that is reasonably related to good moral character as a qualification for licensure.  Good moral character is honesty, fairness, and respect for the law and the rights of others.  State ex rel. McAvoy v. Louisiana St. Bd. of Med. Examiners, 115 So.2d 833, 839 n.2 (La. 1959); Florida Bd. of Bar Examiners Re:  G.W.L., 

364 So.2d 454, 458 (Fla. 1978).


Moral turpitude is:

an act of baseness, vileness, or depravity in the private and social duties which a man owes to his fellowman or to society in general, 

contrary to the accepted and customary rule of right and duty between man and man; everything ‘done contrary to justice, honesty, modesty, and good morals.’

In re Frick, 694 S.W.2d 473, 479 (Mo. banc 1985) (quoting In re Wallace, 19 S.W.2d 625 

(Mo. banc 1929)).  


Ryan pled guilty to a violation of 21 U.S.C. section 843(b), which provides:  

It shall be unlawful for any person knowingly or intentionally to use any communication facility in committing or in causing or facilitating the commission of any act or acts constituting a felony under any provision of this subchapter. . . . The term “communication facility” means any and all public and private instrumentalities used or useful in the transmission of writing, signs, signals, pictures, or sounds of all kinds and includes mail, telephone, wire, radio, and all other means of communication.

The use of a communication facility in the manufacture of methamphetamine is a crime of moral turpitude. 


21 U.S.C. section 843(b) is part of Title 21 U.S.C., Chapter 13, which governs “Drug Abuse Prevention and Control,” and Subchapter I, which governs “Control and Enforcement.”  Therefore, Ryan pled guilty to a violation of the drug laws of the federal government.  


However, even if we have grounds for the denial of licensure under section 331.060.2(2) and (15), section 331.060.2 states that the license “may” be denied on these grounds.  Therefore, the denial of licensure is discretionary and not a mandate.  State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. Finch, 514 S.W.2d 608, 614 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1974).  This Commission now exercises the same degree of discretion that the Board was allowed to exercise.  Id. at 614-15.  


Further, even though Ryan’s crime is reasonably related to his qualifications to the extent that it reflects on his moral character, section 331.030.2, bad conduct and a guilty plea cannot preclude an applicant from demonstrating that he has rehabilitated himself.   State Bd. of Regis’n for the Healing Arts v. De Vore, 517 S.W.2d 480, 484 (Mo. App., K.C.D. 1974); see also 

section 314.200.  Therefore, we must determine whether Ryan has demonstrated that he has been rehabilitated.   

II.  Rehabilitation


In determining whether an applicant for licensure has been rehabilitated, we consider the nature and seriousness of the original conduct that gave rise to the charges and guilty pleas, the nature of the crimes pleaded to, the relationship of the offenses to the profession for which licensure is sought, the date of the conduct and guilty pleas, the conduct of the applicant since then and since any release from imprisonment or probation, the applicant’s reputation in the community, and any other evidence relating to the extent to which the applicant has repented and been rehabilitated.  De Vore, 517 S.W.2d at 484.  A rehabilitant should at least acknowledge guilt and embrace a new moral code.  Francois v. State Bd. of Regis'n for the Healing Arts, 

880 S.W.2d 601, 603 (Mo. App., E.D. 1994).


We note that although ordering materials to manufacture methamphetamine is a serious offense, Ryan did not actually engage in the manufacture or distribution of methamphetamine. Although the practice of chiropractic does not involve the use or prescription of any drugs, the offense bears a relationship to the profession because the function of a chiropractor is to treat the public and improve health, section 331.010.1, and the illegal use or manufacture of drugs is contrary to this purpose.  However, the offense occurred more than six years ago, Ryan has had no further offenses or drug abuse since approximately the time of the incident, and Ryan has demonstrated a commitment to the profession by treating clinical patients beyond the requirements for his degree.  


Further, Ryan fully cooperated with the prosecution and successfully completed the terms of his probation, including counseling.  Since his release from confinement, Ryan has completed 

his education, worked extra hours in the college clinic, and earned an outstanding service award from the school.  He has dissociated himself from his old friends and lifestyle.  He is married, has a child, and has worked hard to complete school and provide for his family.  He enjoys an excellent reputation in the community as one who is devoted to helping others.  He has expressed deep regret for his crime and appears to have embraced a new moral code.  Ryan’s application to the Board truthfully disclosed his crime, and Ryan fully cooperated in providing information to the Board.  


We conclude that Ryan has demonstrated that he has been rehabilitated and that he is a person of good moral character.  Although he pled guilty to a crime that occurred in 1993, he completed his probation and schooling, and has demonstrated a commitment to providing quality chiropractic care.  Ryan is entitled to licensure as a chiropractor. 

Summary


We grant Ryan’s application for licensure as a chiropractor.  The Board shall issue Ryan a license to practice as a chiropractor.    


SO ORDERED on January 3, 2000.



________________________________



SHARON M. BUSCH



Commissioner

�There appears to be a typographical error, as this statutory provision is section 331.060.2(2), rather than section 331.060.1(2).  


�Statutory references are to the 1994 Revised Statutes of Missouri, unless otherwise noted.


�The answer refers to the denial letters as exhibits to the answer, but the letters are not attached to the answer filed with this Commission.  However, the denial letters were in evidence as Respondent’s Exhibits C and E, and Ryan obviously received the letters because he acted upon them.  





�The Board makes no argument, and we find no evidence, that fraud, dishonesty or violence is an essential element of the crime.  
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